
PLAN COMMISSION 

  

 

Time and Date:  The Plan Commission met on Tuesday, October 20, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. in the 

Common Council Chambers of Wausau City Hall.   

 

Members Present: Mayor Tipple, Lindman, Gisselman, Atwell, Oberbeck, Bohlken 

 

Others Present:  Lenz, DeSantis, Hebert, Reinhart, Straub, Mitchell 

 

In compliance with Chapter 19, Wisconsin Statutes, notice of this meeting was posted and transmitted to 

the Wausau Daily Herald in the proper manner. 

 

Mayor Tipple called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. noting that a quorum was present. 

 
Approve the minutes of the September 15, 2015 meeting.       
 
Gisselman motioned to approve the minutes of the September 15, 2015 meeting.  Bohlken seconded, and 
the motion carried unanimously 6-0. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on rezoning 5601 Sherman Street from UDD, 
Unified Development District, to R1, Single Family Residence District. (Straub) 
 

James Straub, 5601 Sherman Street, said that he would like to apply for a reverse mortgage, but 

commercial property is not accepted.  The property needs to be rezoned to single family zoning in order 

to qualify for the mortgage.  Straub said that he and his wife have lived here for 17 years, in the 12 

bedroom home.  At first, the plan was to move into the property for 3-4 months, but they liked it right 

away.  Straub said his wife recently passed away, but he has several children and grandchildren and 

would like to have the room for his family to come home occasionally. 

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Lenz said that the proposal is to rezone to Single Family Residence District.  Sometimes it can be an issue 

rezoning to a more lenient zoning district, but in this case it’s essentially going to the city’s most 

restrictive district.  Staff didn’t see any issues; there are other residential properties around it.  Staff 

recommends approval. 

 

Atwell motioned to rezone 5601 Sherman Street from UDD, Unified Development District, to R1, Single 

Family Residence District.  Bohlken seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 6-0.  This item will 

go to Common Council on November 10, 2015. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action approving a conditional use at 209 West 
Washington Street to allow for an advertising sign in a B3, General Commercial District. (Lamar 
Central Outdoor LLC) 
 
Rich Reinhart, 9237 Heritage Drive, and Bill Mitchell, 8287 Falcon Drive introduced themselves.  
Reinhart said that a sign was located at the location and during a wind storm in May the sign was bent and 
leaning very badly.  A permit was applied to replace the parts.  The sign was put up in the 1960’s and 
predates any of the sign code.  During the permitting process, a conditional use permit was suggested.  
The sign could be a legal use and said he was a little confused when he read the staff report where it is not 
recommended.  Reinhart asked the commission to approve the conditional use so the sign could be put 
back together.  Mitchell thanked the commission for reviewing this. 
 
Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 
 
Lenz confirmed that staff did recommend denial.  It is being treated as a new sign since the old sign was 
removed.  This body would be reviewing if it would be acceptable as a new use.  In the B3 districts, 
advertising signs can be allowed by a conditional use.  In B4 districts, which is just across the railroad 
tracks, they would be prohibited.  Lenz said that billboards are allowed in other areas of the city.  On the 
last page of the staff report, a street view is illustrated.  This is a critical area of the city, being the main 
entrance into the downtown.  Lenz went over the different public safety signs and said there is a lot 
happening in the area with public safety and navigation.  This area has been determined as the main 



Plan Commission 

October 20, 2015 — Page 2 

 
entrance into the downtown by the way-finding consultant.  Way-finding signs will likely be placed in 
this area in the future.  It is the gateway into the downtown.  There is a world-class kayaking destination 
in this area.  The sign would be another thing competing for a person’s attention; the public safety signage 
is the most important, but navigation and aesthetics should also be considered.  Staff feels that it is not an 
appropriate location for such a sign. 
 
The commission discussed how the motion needs to be made. 
 
Gisselman motioned to approve a conditional use at 209 West Washington Street to allow for an 
advertising sign in a B3, General Commercial District.  Bohlken seconded, and the motion failed 
unanimously 0-6.  This item will go to Common Council on November 10, 2015. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on rezoning 912 and 920/1000 North River 
Drive from B2, Community Service District; 1006, 1010, 1202 and 1212 North River Drive from 
M2, General Industrial District; and 1100 North River Drive from an unzoned parcel, to UDD, 
Unified Development District and approve the General Development Plan to allow for a mixed-use 
residential development. (City of Wausau) 
 

Lenz said that the first map in the packet shows the area that has been referred to as the East Riverfront 

District.  The city purchased all of the property over the years, has received money to clean the area up, 

and has adopted a master plan for the area.  At this point, a RFP is out for private development.  The 

proposals are due November 2.  Currently, the area is a mix of zoning, including industrial.  It has been 

thought to create a UDD zoning to allow for a mix of uses, but more of a mix of commercial and 

residential properties.  The request for proposal and cover letter are included in the packet.  During 

preliminary discussion, it is expected the proposals will be largely residential, with some commercial.   

 

Lenz said that with UDD zoning, there are two approvals – the first is for the General Development Plan, 

where the use is established, and the second approval is for the Precise Implementation Plan.  As 

proposals come forward, more detailed plans would come to the commission for approval.  Some plans 

for Wausau on the Water (WOW) are also included in the packet, which is what the Precise 

Implementation Plan approval on the agenda would be for.     

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Gisselman said he thought 1202 North First Street had been changed to 1202 North River Drive.  Lenz 

agreed and said the notices were sent out prior to the official change being made.   

 

Gisselman asked if the former trail would become a street.  Lenz said those parcels are still there and 

technically still have those addresses.  The parcel boundaries will be redrawn and will be assigned the 

new addresses.  These are the old addresses.  Gisselman asked if the boundary of 1010 North First Street 

comes all the way to First Street and said he is not sure where the boundary ends.  Lenz said that 1100 

North First Street is the former railroad right-of-way and will essentially go away.  Lenz said that the 

colored drawing from Stantec shows a more accurate reflection of what it will look like. 

 

Oberbeck said it could be difficult in the future for developers if the whole area is zoned versus particular 

addresses.  Lenz said that it would be one large zoning district, similar to the west side where the hospital 

and surrounding area started out as one large UDD.  Oberbeck asked what would happen with different 

parcels with different owners and said that can’t occur in UDD zoning.  Hebert said that the city could 

still be the owner with long-term leases, similar to the mall.  Hebert said it is still a work in progress and 

staff feels that the UDD could be changed or modified when the RFP comes back.  This layout has gone 

through several committees.  Oberbeck asked if the intention is to have the city be the owner of the 

property and controlling the UDD.  Lenz said that it depends on the proposals that come back and the 

financial packages.  The feedback that has been given so far has been that it would be easier for the city to 



Plan Commission 

October 20, 2015 — Page 3 

 
continue to be the owner of the property and lease the areas, but private ownership could also be an 

option.  Lenz said at this point, staff wanted to get the underlying zoning to more accurately reflect the 

types of uses that we are trying to attract to the area, not the industrial zoning from the past.  As 

developments come forward, the commission would approve the precise plans. 

 

Mayor Tipple asked if it is a moot point if the city retains the land. Lenz said that we do have control over 

what goes there, but we should follow our own zoning ordinances.  He said a bar/restaurant can go into 

industrial zoning, but they would need a conditional use for outdoor dining.  Oberbeck said there are no 

requirements with UDD zoning verses other types of zoning which have specific requirements.  Lenz said 

that there may be developers who want the whole district.  He thought the commission would want some 

review of the plans through the UDD process.  Atwell confirmed that Wausau on Water (WOW) is part of 

this.  Lenz confirmed it would be part of the UDD, but not really the RFP, since obligations have already 

been made to WOW.  Atwell asked if they were leasing the land from the City.  Lenz said that was 

correct.  Atwell asked if a developer would take the entire parcel including WOW.  Lenz said a developer 

may purchase the rest of the area, but probably not the WOW parcel because the developer agreement is 

being worked out between the City and the WOW developers.  

 

Bohlken motioned to rezone 912 and 920/1000 North First Street from B2, Community Service District; 

1006, 1010, 1202 and 1212 North First Street from M2, General Industrial District; and 1100 North First 

Street from an unzoned parcel, to UDD, Unified Development District and approve the General 

Development Plan to allow for a mixed-use residential development.  Gisselman seconded and the motion 

carried unanimously 6-0.  This item will go to Common Council on November 10, 2015. 
 
Discussion and possible action on approving the Precise Implementation Plan at 912, 920/1000, 
1006, 1010, 1100, 1202 & 1212 North River Drive to allow for a mixed-use residential development. 
 
Hebert said that 1415 North River Drive was assigned for WOW.  Lenz said that in this case, the 
description should be a family entertainment center.  In the packet, a site plan for the building is shown.  
The 2

nd
 map, right after the zoning map, shows the plan.  Color renderings of the building are included in 

the packet.  Lenz said that since the developer is not at the meeting and these may not be the final 
drawings, staff would recommend holding off on this plan until final drawings are submitted. 
 
Lenz said that the drawings are close to the final.  Oberbeck said that site plans, service access, parking, 
entrances, and waste pickup locations should be included, which it is not.  Mayor Tipple said this item 
will be brought back.  Atwell asked if the RFP is asking for developers to incorporate something along 
these lines or is this a blank slate and asked if the RFP’s should be received before approving this plan.  
Lenz said staff has been working independently on the WOW project and RFP.  The projects have gone 
through different committees and have been given the green light separately.  There are details that need 
to be worked out, like the details that Oberbeck had stated.  Mayor Tipple said the intent is to bring this 
back to a future meeting.  Lenz confirmed. 
 
Discussion and possible action on approving a petition for annexation – Eau Claire River LLC, 
South 60

th
 Avenue (076-2907-323-0977, Town of Stettin). 

 
Lenz said that this petition for annexation came through the CISM committee.  CISM approved the 
annexation.  The property owners also own the property to the north.  The property that is in the city is 
zoned M2 and they have been doing some earth work and storage.  They would like to annex this property 
into the city with the similar use.  At this time, the zoning is not being discussed.  The town taxes would 
need to be paid for 5 years, and this is noted in the staff report.  The zoning would come back to this 
commission, and would come back next month for that.  Staff recommends approval. 
 
Bohlken motioned to approve the petition for annexation – Eau Claire River LLC, South 60

th
 Avenue 

(076-2907-323-0977, Town of Stettin).  Gisselman seconded.  The motion passed unanimously.  It will go 
to Common Council on November 10, 2015. 
 



Plan Commission 

October 20, 2015 — Page 4 

 
Discussion and possible action on right-of-way plat for the Thomas Street Project.    
 
Lindman said that this item went to the last CISM meeting and was approved.  This plat map was based 
on the design layout that was approved.  There was some discussion at CISM about it.  There are some 
minor changes that would need to be made.  Some ADA requirements are being looked into at the corners 
for the sidewalks.  This needs to be approved, in order to move forward with the acquisitions.   
 
Atwell asked if this is the last time the commission would see anything on this project.  Lenz said that the 
other half of Thomas Street design would need to come back to the commission.  Gisselman said that 
there are action of various committees and council.  Lenz said that some items will need to go to 
Economic Development and Finance committees for acquisitions.  Lindman said that the relocations will 
be approved through the appropriate channels. 
 
Gisselman motioned to approve the right-of-way plat for the Thomas Street Project.  Bohlken seconded, 
and the motion carried unanimously 6-0.  This item will go to Common Council on October 27, 2015. 
 
Next meeting date and future agenda items for consideration. 
 

The next meeting is scheduled for November 17, 2015.  Lenz said that another joint meeting with the 

Economic Development Committee for the downtown area may occur in the near future. 

 
Adjourn.             
 

Oberbeck motioned to adjourn.  Atwell seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 6-0.  The meeting 

adjourned at 5:50 p.m. 
 
 
 


